

eCommons@AKU

Theses & Dissertations

2023

Relationship between crown like structures and body mass index in breast cancer

Sophie Wanjiru Irungu Aga Khan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://ecommons.aku.edu/theses_dissertations

Part of the Pathology Commons

Recommended Citation

Irungu, S. W. (2023). *Relationship between crown like structures and body mass index in breast cancer* (Unpublished master's dissertation). Aga Khan University, East Africa.

AGA KHAN UNIVERSITY

Postgraduate Medical Education Programme Medical College, East Africa

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CROWN LIKE STRUCTURES AND BODY MASS INDEX IN BREAST CANCER

Ву

DR SOPHIE WANJIRU IRUNGU

A dissertation submitted in part fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medicine In Anatomic Pathology

Nairobi, Kenya

18th April 2023

APPROVAL

Aga Khan University

Department of Pathology

Submitted to the Medical College Faculty Council

in part fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medicine in Anatomic Pathology

Members of the Departmental Dissertation Committee who vetted the dissertation of

DR. SOPHIE WANJIRU IRUNGU

find it satisfactory and recommended that it be submitted for evaluation by external examiners



Dr Shahin Sayed Chief Internal Examiner/Primary Supervisor

Dr Mustapha Abubakar Supervisor

Dr Jonathan Wawire Supervisor

18th April 2023

ABSTRACT

Introduction

Breast cancer (BC) is the most common malignancy in women worldwide, including Kenya. Globally, increasing incidences of BC have paralleled those of obesity. The mechanism by which obesity contributes to BC is still an active area of research but white adipose tissue inflammation characterised by crown like structures (CLS), which are macrophages surrounding dying adipocytes, is considered an important contributor.

Objectives

The primary objective was to determine the association between CLS and body mass index (BMI) in BC patients. The secondary objectives were to determine the association of CLS with BC risk factors specifically, age, menopausal status, subtypes of BC and overall survival among BC patients.

Methodology

Surrounding non-tumour breast tissue from 180 BC surgical specimens were selected and stained immunohistochemically with CD68 to detect CLS. Demographic and clinical data was collected from medical records. Comparison between CLS presence and BMI categories with the other variables was determined based on Fishers Exact test and Kruskal Wallis test. Multivariable logistic regression modelling was used to test the association between CLS presence and BMI categories. Models were adjusted for age, ER status and menopause as potential confounders. A p value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

In multivariable models, obese patients were approximately two-fold more likely to have CLS in their tissues than normal weight patients (Odds ratio (95% CI) = 2.03 (0.68-6.02)) but differences were not statistically significant (p = 0.204). BC risk factors specifically, age, menopausal status, subtypes of BC and overall survival among BC patients were also not associated with CLS presence.

iii

Conclusion

The findings were suggestive of higher CLS prevalence in surrounding non-tumour breast adipose tissue of obese than normal weight women. Observed differences were, however, not statistically significant, which could be due to the low prevalence of CLS in this population, the relatively small sample size, or due to inherent tumour characteristics within this population.

Recommendations

Due to its low prevalence, CLS may not be the most ideal marker for white adipose tissue inflammation and further studies looking into macrophage density and different types of macrophages within surrounding breast tissue are recommended.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AKUHN	Aga Khan University Hospital Nairobi
BAT	Brown adipose tissue
BCT	Breast conservation treatment
BC	Breast cancer
BMI	Body Mass Index
CD68	Cluster of Differentiation 68
CK5/6	Cytokeratin 5/6
CLS	Crown like structures in breast adipose tissue
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
ER	Estrogen Receptor
H/E	Haematoxylin and eosin
HER2	Human Epidermal Growth Factor 2
HIC	High income countries
LIC	Low income countries
NFkB	Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cell
PR	Progesterone Receptor
WC	Waist circumference
WAT	White adipose tissue

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr Shahin Sayed, Dr Mustapha Abubakar, Dr Jonathan Wawire whose advice, reassurance and patience have been important to me throughout the course of this study.

I also wish to thank our collaborators Dr Rose Yang and the NCI/NIH team for their technical support during this study.

I also would like to thank AKUH Nairobi management, staff, faculty, fellow residents for their input and support.

I am grateful to our patients who enable us to learn and discover new things within pathology.

Many thanks to my family and friends for their prayers and support which kept me going.

Above all, I would like to thank God for the strength and guidance throughout this study.

DECLARATION

I declare this dissertation does not include without acknowledgement any material formerly submitted for a degree or diploma in any university. Information derived from literature has been acknowledged within the text and a list of references provided.



(Signature of candidate)

18th April 2023

Date

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents

APPROVALii
ABSTRACTiii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
DECLARATION
TABLE OF CONTENTS viii
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURESx
CHAPTER1: INTRODUCTION 1
1.1 Background 1
1.2 Problem Statement 2
1.3 Literature Review
1.3.1 Breast Cancer Epidemiology 3
1.3.2 White Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Breast Cancer (BC)
1.4 Study Justification
1.5 Research Question
1.6 Study Objectives
CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY
2.1 Study Design
2.2 Study Location
2.3 Study Population
2.3.1 Inclusion Criteria
2.3.2 Exclusion Criteria
2.4 Sample Size
2.5 Methods
2.5.1 Sample Selection
2.5.2 Laboratory Analysis
2.6 Data Management and Statistical Analysis10
ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS
3.1 Study Population Characteristics
3.2 Association between CLS presence and BMI
3.3 Association between CLS and clinical and demographic characteristics
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION
4.1 Limitations
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION
CHAPTER 6: RECOMMENDATIONS
REFERENCES
APPENDICES
APPENDIX 1: DATA COLLECTION SHEET
APPENDIX 2: PICTOGRAPH CHART

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Clinical and demographic characteristics of study population	.14
Table 2:	Clinical and demographic characteristics of study population	.14
Table 3:	Association between CLS presence and BMI	.16
Table 4:	Association between CLS density and BMI	.16
Table 5:	Binomial logistic regression model adjusted for age, ER status, and menopause	.16
Table 6:	Association between CLS and clinical and demographic characteristics	.17

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Representative micrograph of a CLS with 50% encirclement of adipocyte with (CD68
positive macrophages	9
Figure 2: Representative micrograph of a CLS with 100% encirclement of adipocyte with	CD68
positive macrophages	10
Figure 3: Pie chart showing distribution of BMI within study population	12
Figure 4: Graph showing prevalence of CLS by BMI category	13

CHAPTER1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Obesity is one of the few modifiable risk factors of BC which can be addressed through risk reducing interventions (Harbeck et al., 2019). Obesity is defined as a condition of abnormal or excessive fat accumulation in adipose tissue, that impairs health (JS, 1988). While there are multiple measures of obesity, body mass index (BMI) is the most easily obtained and the most commonly measured. In most studies of European ancestry, a BMI of 30kg/m² or greater is used to define obesity although this has been suggested to be overestimated in African populations (Heymsfield, Peterson, Thomas, Heo, & Schuna, 2016; WHO, 2000). African American men and women were seen to have less visceral adipose tissue than Hispanic and white men and women for the same BMI and waist circumference (Camhi et al., 2011; Carroll et al., 2008).

BMI, the most commonly used measure, is defined as the weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in metres (kg/m²). It classifies adults based on their score as either underweight (<18.5), normal (18.5-24.9), overweight (25-<30) or obese (>30). BMI is an indirect measure which does not quantify the amount of adipose tissue, its distribution and status in the body (WHO, 2000). Globally, 1.9 billion adults were overweight in 2016 with 650 million of these being obese (Organisation, 2021). Estimates from Kenya show that 20.5% and 9.1% of women aged 15-49 years are overweight and obese respectively(Mkuu, Epnere, & Chowdhury, 2018). A more recent study from Kenya published in 2021 estimated the mean BMI to be 23.38 (SE=0.22) with 28.08% of the population being overweight/obese(n= 4340 adults, 49.59% women) (Rahma Mkuu, 2021).

The association between BC and increased BMI has been studied extensively in high income countries (HIC) (Neuhouser, Aragaki, et al., 2015; Reeves et al., 2007; White, Nichols, Bradshaw, & Sandler, 2015). Studies done among Caucasian population show that postmenopausal obese (BMI >30kg/m2) women are more at risk for estrogen receptor (ER) positive BC compared to those with normal BMI (Bhardwaj et al., 2019; Neuhouser, Chlebowski, & Anderson, 2015). A study by Blair et al showed that women who presented with tumors greater than 5 cm were more likely to have a BMI > 25kg/m² (22.1%, n=859) compared to those with normal BMI (Blair, Wiggins, Nibbe, Storlie, & Prossnitz, 2019). Obese women also had a 1.7-fold increased risk of stage 3 or 4 disease from the same study (Blair et al

1

al., 2019). A recent local study by Sayed et al showed that 68.7% of Kenyan BC patients(n=823) had a BMI >25kg/m² (Sayed et al., 2018).

Obesity has been shown to increase white adipose tissue inflammation in the breast. Crown like structures in the breast (CLS) are histological markers of this inflammation. Prevalence of breast adipose tissue inflammation has been seen to increase with increase in BMI (34% in overweight, 57% in class I obesity and 65% in class II-III obesity P for trend < 0.01.) (Greenlee et al., 2019). Another study by Vyasse et al found that overweight and obese patients have 3.2 times and 6.9 times higher odds ratio of CLS respectively compared with normal patients (Vaysse et al., 2017). Studies by Koru Sengul et al and Iyengar et al show that CLS are also associated with poor prognosis with reduced distant free survival, shortened disease specific survival and overall survival in BC (Iyengar, Zhou, et al., 2016; Koru-Sengul et al., 2016).

African patients present with BC earlier, at a more advanced stage and with more aggressive BC subtypes (Lukong, Ogunbolude, & Kamdem, 2017). Given this distinct BC profile among African patients and the rise in obesity globally including Africa (Adeboye, Bermano, & Rolland, 2012; Organisation, 2021), studies to confirm and understand the obesity-cancer relationship in this population are needed so as to provide targeted prevention strategies and interventions.

1.2 Problem Statement

The link between obesity and BC has been studied extensively in high income countries (Neuhouser, Aragaki, et al., 2015; Reeves et al., 2007; White et al., 2015). Studies have shown that white adipose tissue inflammation characterized by CLS is an important contributor (Faria et al., 2020; Iyengar, Gucalp, Dannenberg, & Hudis, 2016). Prevalence of CLS has been noted to increase with increase in BMI in different populations but there is scant literature within the Kenyan population (Greenlee et al., 2019; Maliniak et al., 2020; Zhao, Sun, Ye, Zhang, & Yao, 2020).

1.3 Literature Review 1.3.1 Breast Cancer Epidemiology

Breast cancer (BC) is the most common malignancy in women including in Kenya (Harbeck et al., 2019) with an estimated 2.3 million new cases globally in 2020(Observatory, 2020; Sung, Ferlay, Siegel, Jemal, & Bray, 2021). Incidence rates are higher in high income countries (HIC) compared to low middle income countries (LMIC) and this can be attributed to a longstanding higher prevalence of reproductive and hormonal risk factors and lifestyle risk factors, as well as increased detection through organized or opportunistic mammographic screening (Garrow, 1988). However, mortality rates are 17% higher in LMIC compared with HIC (15.0 and 12.8 respectively) (Garrow, 1988). In Africa the mortality rates vary with Western Africa having the highest and Southern Africa having the lowest (22.3 and 15.7 per 100,00 respectively) (Lei, Zheng, Zhang, Zhou, & Wei, 2021). In Kenya the incidence rate is estimated to be 16.1% with a mortality rate of 11.5% (Observatory, 2020). Also, various studies have shown that African and African American patients present with BC at an earlier age compared to White women (Abdulrahman & Rahman, 2012; Aziz et al., 1999). The situation in Kenya is similar with majority (53.9%) of Kenyan BC patients being younger than 50 years (Sayed et al., 2018).

BC is a heterogeneous disease at the morphological and molecular level (Harbeck et al., 2019). The WHO lists up to 21 histological types, with invasive carcinoma of no special type being the most common worldwide (Michael Thun, 2017).

The rest are grouped as special types due to certain morphologic features. At the molecular level BC is classified into 4 intrinsic subtypes; luminal A, luminal B, HER-2 enriched, basal like subtypes (Perou et al., 2000). One can approximate BC molecular subtypes by using an immunohistochemistry panel comprising of ER, PR, HER2, Ki67, CK5/6, EGFR (Schnitt, 2010).

A study by Sayed et al showed that 70.2% of BC in Kenya is Luminal A or B, 10.6% HER2 enriched, and 19.2% were triple negative (ER, PR and HER2 negative) (Sayed et al., 2018). Although early BC which is localized to the breast and axillary lymph nodes is curable in 70-80% of patients, mortality rates are still high in low income countries where patients present with advanced stage disease and/or metastases (Harbeck et al., 2019).

3

1.3.2 White Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Breast Cancer (BC)

The mechanism by which obesity contributes to BC is still an active area of research and white adipose tissue inflammation represents one of the ways (Calle & Kaaks, 2004; Iyengar, Gucalp, et al., 2016). Adipose tissue can be grouped into white, brown or pink, each with different physiological properties. White adipose tissue (WAT) is the most abundant form in adults, and functions to store energy primarily and is increased in obesity due to excess energy intake. It is found in visceral and subcutaneous location (Cinti, 2018; Correa, Heyn, & Magalhaes, 2019). Brown adipose tissue (BAT) has a thermogenic function and is found mainly in newborns and infants. In adults it is limited to certain areas such as the interscapular region, neck and around major vessels (Correa et al., 2019; Frontini & Cinti, 2018). Pink adipocytes are found within the breast in pregnant and lactating women due to increased milk secretion (Correa et al., 2019).

In obesity there is adipose tissue hypertrophy and hyperplasia. As breast white adipose tissue expands, there is reduced blood supply, hypoxia and adipocyte death. The necrotic adipocyte releases free fatty acids and chemokines which attract bone marrow derived macrophages and causes them to proliferate and polarize to a pro-inflammatory phenotype (Faria et al., 2020; Iyengar, Gucalp, et al., 2016). The macrophages surround the necrotic adipocyte forming crown like structures (Figure 1) (Maliniak et al., 2020; Morris et al., 2011).

The activated macrophages phagocytose the fat and secrete cytokines that maintain the inflammatory state. They also produce reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species which are mutagenic (Berger, 2017). There is also increased expression of the NFkB (Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells) pathway which promotes synthesis of various cytokines (Zhu et al., 2020). Aromatase expression and activity is also increased within the adipose tissue resulting to elevated estrogen (Morris et al., 2011) (Figure 2). All these contribute to the development and progression of BC (Faria et al., 2020; Iyengar, Gucalp, et al., 2016).

Crown like structures in the white adipose tissue of the breast (CLS) are histological markers of this inflammation and increased aromatase activity (Berger, 2017). The CLS are more frequent in obese individuals and the association is similar between Caucasians and African American BC patients (Maliniak et al., 2020). They are also associated with a poorer prognosis in BC (Morris et al., 2011). Various studies have shown that CLS increase with BMI both in mice (Cinti et al.,

4

2005) and human subjects (Faria et al., 2020; Greenlee et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2020). They are associated with reduced survival and shortened distant recurrence free survival in those who develop metastases in BC (Iyengar, Zhou, et al., 2016).

CLS has been positively associated with BMI in BC patients among other populations such as Taiwanese, Hispanic/Latina, Chinese, Caucasians and African American (Greenlee et al., 2019; Iyengar et al., 2018; Maliniak et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2020). Data among African population is currently lacking. CLS are seen more frequently in postmenopausal obese women and hormone receptor positive BC. This is explained by the increased expression and activation of aromatase by white adipose tissue inflammation (Iyengar et al., 2015; Morris et al., 2011).

CLS have also been seen in adipose tissue in other malignancies such as oral squamous cancer (Iyengar, Ghossein, et al., 2016), endometrial cancer (Moukarzel et al., 2022) and prostate cancer (Gucalp et al., 2017) which strongly suggests the role of adipose tissue inflammation in cancer pathogenesis. In both malignancies, white adipose tissue inflammation was positively associated with higher BMI. The presence of CLS in tongue fat is associated with reduced disease-specific and overall survival in patients with early-stage tongue cancer (Iyengar, Ghossein, et al., 2016). In prostatic cancer, peri-prostatic adipose tissue inflammation was seen in 49.7% (n=169) of patients and was associated with higher BMI and Gleason grade group 4/5 tumors (Gucalp et al., 2017).

White adipose tissue inflammation plays a significant role in BC and this study aims to explore the relationship between CLS, BMI and BC.

1.4 Study Justification

BC, the most common malignancy among women, occurs at an earlier age, advanced stage and with more aggressive subtypes in African and African American women (Koru-Sengul et al., 2016; Lukong et al., 2017). BC patients are also more likely to have higher BMI(Blair et al., 2019). There is evidence that breast white adipose tissue inflammation contributes to BC development and progression (Berger, 2017; Zhu et al., 2020). The association though complex is of significance. It will aid in understanding the BC-obesity pathway and provide targeted interventions for this population.

There are limited data on obesity measures in the Kenyan population and we aim to determine associations with histologic measures (CLS) in breast tissues, compare results with other studies elsewhere and provide an understanding of the obesity-cancer relationship in our population. CLS could augment BMI and other obesity measures by providing a tissue specific status of adiposity which will be more consistent in detecting high risk individuals who could benefit from targeted treatment (Iyengar, Gucalp, et al., 2016).

Given the global rise of obesity (Organisation, 2021) it is important to focus on the mechanisms that lead to BC in this population in order to provide targeted prevention and treatment options. Furthermore, success in this field could also be extended to other malignancies that are associated with obesity.

1.5 Research Question

What is the association between crown like structures in white adipose tissue with BMI in women with BC diagnosed at AKUHN?

1.6 Study Objectives

Main Objective:

• To determine the association between crown like structures and BMI in BC

Secondary objectives:

- To determine the association of crown like structures with epidemiological factors specifically, age, menopausal status, subtypes of BC and overall survival among BC patients
- To carry out a comparative analysis of BMI, and other measures of obesity (pictographs and waist circumference) as body fat measures within a subset of cases diagnosed for which this information is available.

CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY

2.1 Study Design

This was a retrospective descriptive study

2.2 Study Location

This study was conducted at the Aga Khan University Hospital Nairobi, Pathology Department.

2.3 Study Population

The study population comprised of consecutive BC mastectomy and breast conservation treatment (BCT) specimens received at the Pathology Department AKUHN during the period January 2012 to December 2021.

2.3.1 Inclusion Criteria

Mastectomy and BCT specimens that met the following criteria were selected:

- Available relevant clinical data
- No prior neoadjuvant chemotherapy or radiotherapy given for BC or any other malignancy
- Available formalin fixed paraffin embedded sample of surrounding normal breast tissue in patients diagnosed with BC.

2.3.2 Exclusion Criteria

• Patients with core biopsies only

2.4 Sample Size

This was a retrospective study and we intended to use all the samples available from 2012 – 2021. The estimated sample size for this study was 240 samples.

2.5 Methods 2.5.1 Sample Selection

Breast cancer (BC) cases diagnosed between 2012 and 2021 were identified in CARE pathology database. Specimens which met the eligibility criteria were selected. Clinical and demographic data were obtained from CARE and patient files including: age, menopausal status, weight, height, BMI and tumour characteristics (stage, grade, tumour size and hormone receptor status) and recorded in data sheets (Appendix 1). Waist circumference, hip circumference and pictographs(Appendix 2) were obtained from records of cases diagnosed between 2019 to 2021

Menopausal status was categorized as pre-menopausal and post-menopausal as per clinical notes. BMI was calculated from pre-surgical height and weight and classified as per the WHO definitions: underweight BMI<18.5 kg/m², normal weight BMI 18.5- 24.9 kg/m², overweight BMI 25-29.9kg/m² and obese BMI>29.9 kg/m² (WHO, 2000). Tumours were reported as estrogen or progesterone positive if nuclear positivity was >1% on immunohistochemistry as per CAP protocols (College of American Pathologists). HER2 status was determined on IHC and reported as negative, equivocal or positive depending on the membranous staining of the tumour cells as per CAP protocol (College of American Pathologists).

For each eligible BC specimen formalin fixed paraffin embedded block representing surrounding breast tissue was retrieved from the archive at Aga Khan University Hospital Nairobi Pathology Laboratory. Surrounding benign breast tissue was taken as per the standardized method that was implemented by the histology section in January 2018. It comprises benign tissue that is 2cm (peri-tumoral) or 5cm (distant) from the tumour. For cases that were diagnosed earlier than January 2018, the margins that were 2-5cm away from tumour were used instead.

Haematoxylin and Eosin (H/E) sections were cut at 4μ m and examined to ensure they contained representative benign breast tissue and had no tumour foci, fat necrosis or inflammation. From this, the best block with adequate, that is 75%, white adipose tissue was selected.

2.5.2 Laboratory Analysis

Sections from the selected FFPE blocks were stained for CD68 (a marker used to identify macrophages) consistent with previously established methods(Greenlee et al., 2019; Maliniak et al., 2020) using immunohistochemistry to evaluate presence of CLS. The stained H/E and CD68 slides were scanned at NCI/NIH laboratory using a whole slide imaging scanner and analysed on the image analysis system HALO (Halo, Indica Labs, Albuquerque, NM).

Total white adipose tissue area was measured in cm² on HALO. CLS were identified within the adipose tissue, annotated and manually counted by the investigators on the digital images. Encirclement of at least 50% of the adipocyte by CD68+ cells was required to qualify as CLS (Maliniak et al., 2020). (Figure 1 and 2).

CLS density was given as number of CLS per cm² of adipose tissue area (CLS/cm²). The median was used as the cut-off point to distinguish between low and high CLS density. The images were initially reviewed first by the resident and then together with the supervisor. The reviewers were blinded to the clinicopathological data at the time of CLS scoring.



Figure 1: Representative micrograph of a CLS with 50% encirclement of adipocyte with CD68 positive macrophages



Figure 2: Representative micrograph of a CLS with 100% encirclement of adipocyte with CD68 positive macrophages

2.6 Data Management and Statistical Analysis

Summary statistics were used as frequencies and percentages for categorical variables and means and standard deviations (SD) or medians and interquartile ranges (IQR) for continuous data. Comparison between CLS group (absent vs present) and BMI group (normal vs overweight vs obese) with the other variables was determined based on Fishers Exact test for categorical data and Kruskal Wallis test for continuous data. Multivariable logistic regression modelling was used to test the association between CLS presence and BMI categories.

Models were adjusted for age, ER status and menopause as potential confounders. A p value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All analyses were performed using SPSS (IBM Version20).

ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The proposal was submitted to the AKU Institutional Scientific and Research Ethics Committee before commencement of the study. An ethical waiver was granted as only archival tissues were used and neither human subjects nor personal identifiers were used for the purposes of this retrospective study. No diagnostic changes arose during this study.

Access to study data was controlled by the principal investigator.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 Study Population Characteristics

258 eligible BC specimens were identified. 57 lacked BMI data. Upon microscopic examination 21 had tumour within the surrounding breast tissue and were excluded leaving 180 for final analysis. This number was consistent with other studies previously.(Greenlee et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2020)

Mean age at BC diagnosis was 53 years with a mean BMI of 29.9kg/m2. 15.6% had normal BMI, 36.1% are overweight and 48.3% are obese. (Figure 3)

60.8% were postmenopausal. Mean tumour size was 3.8cm. 82.2% had invasive ductal carcinoma and 66.3% were Luminal subtype. Most common histologic grade was grade 2(51.4%). (Table 1 and 2)



Figure 3: Pie chart showing distribution of BMI within study population

3.2 Association between CLS presence and BMI

CLS were present in 21.67% of cases. The prevalence increased with BMI as 7.7% were identified in normal weight, 33.33% in overweight and 59.0% in obese (Figure 4). CLS density was determined as high or low. Median CLS density was 1.358 CLS/cm². (Table 3 and 4)

In multivariable logistic regression models, obese patients were approximately two-fold more likely to have CLS in their tissues than normal weight patients (Odds ratio (95% CI) = 2.03 (0.68-6.02)) but differences were not statistically significant (p = 0.204). BC risk factors specifically, age, menopausal status, subtypes of BC and overall survival among BC patients were also not statistically significantly associated with CLS presence (Table 5)



Figure 4: Graph showing prevalence of CLS by BMI category

3.3 Association between CLS and clinical and demographic characteristics

CLS were more common in post-menopausal patients (65.8%). Most patients with CLS had stage 2 disease (71.1%). (Table 6) BC risk factors such as age (p=0.313), menopause status (p=0.669), tumour subtypes and overall survival (p=1.000) among the BC patients were not statistically significantly associated with CLS presence. Due to limited data a comparative analysis between BMI, pictographs, waist circumference and hip circumference could not be efficiently carried out.

Table T. Chinical and demographic characteristics of study population	Table 1:	Clinical and	demographic	characteristics	of study	population
---	----------	--------------	-------------	-----------------	----------	------------

Characteristic	Mean[SD]
Age (years) (mean [SD])	52.7 [11.4]
BMI (kg/m2)(mean [SD])	29.9 [5.2]
Waist Circumference (n=50)	53.7 [27.0]
Hip Circumference (n=46)	60.1 [28.5]
Waist Hip Ratio (n=46)	0.94 [0.30]
Tumor size (n=172)	3.8 [2.3]

Characteristic		Ν	%
BMI	Normal (18.5 – 24.9)	28	15.6%
Categories	Overweight (25.0 – 29.9)	65	36.1%
	Obese (≥ 30)	87	48.3%
Histologic	Invasive ductal carcinoma	148	82.2%
Туре	Invasive lobular carcinoma	7	3.9%
	DCIS	5	2.8%
	Metaplastic carcinoma	5	2.8%
	Invasive carcinoma with mixed ductal / lobular	4	2.2%
	Invasive mucinous carcinoma	4	2.2%
	Invasive micropapillary carcinoma	3	1.7%
	Others	4	1.1%
Histologic	1	6	3.5%
Grade	2	89	51.4%
(n=173)	3	78	45.1%
ER	Positive	125	71.4%
	Negative	50	28.6%
PR	Positive	114	65.1%
	Negative	61	34.9%
HER2	Positive	28	16.0%
	Negative	134	76.6%
	Equivocal	9	5.1%
	DCIS, not graded	4	2.3%

Table 2: Clinical and demographic characteristics of study population

Table 2: cont'd...

Characteristic	Characteristic	N	%
Molecular	Triple Positive	5	2.9%
	Triple Negative	17	9.7%
	Core-Basal	17	9.7%
	DCIS, not graded	5	2.9%
	HER-2 Enriched	11	6.3%
	HER-2 Equivocal	2	1.1%
	Luminal	116	66.3%
	Not Classified	2	1.1%
Menopause	Pre-Menopausal	66	38.6%
Status	Peri-Menopausal	1	0.6%
(n=171)	Post-Menopausal	104	60.8%
Survival Status	alive and metastases	4	8.5%
(n=47)	Alive and well	20	42.6%
	alive with treatment	14	29.8%
	Alive and bedridden	1	2.1%
	Alive and taking herbs	1	2.1%
	alive with metastases or recurrence	2	4.3%
	Alive with multiple metastases	1	2.1%
	Alive with recurrence	3	6.4%
	died due to metastases	1	2.1%
Stage (n=170)	1	29	17.1%
	2	109	64.1%
	3	27	15.9%
	4	5	2.9%
Pictograph	2	5	7.7%
¹ (n=65)	3	13	20.0%
	4	11	16.9%
	5	14	21.5%
	6	14	21.5%
	7	6	9.2%
	8	2	3.1%
CLS	Present	39	21.7%
	Absent	141	78.3%
Total tissue area (n=39) (mean [SD]) 2.5 [0.9]			
CLS Density (n=39) (mean [SD]) 12.0 [33.1]			

 $^{^1}$ The numbers on the pictograph indicate different body sizes characterised by increasing body weight with 1 being the slimmest and 9 the heaviest (Appendix 2).

Table 3: Association between CLS presence and BMI

	CLS		P value
BMI Category	Absent	Present	
Normal	25 (17.7%)	3 (7.7%)	0.220
Overweight	52 (36.9%)	13 (33.3%)	
Obese	64 (45.4%)	23 (59.0%)	

Table 4: Association between CLS density and BMI

	BMI Categories			
	Normal	Overweight	Obese	
	18.5-24.9	25.0-29.9	>30	
CLS Density (n=39) (median [IQR])	1.8 (1.0, 4.4)	1.9(0.4-7.7)	1.0(0.5,5.4)	

Table 5: Binomial logistic regression model adjusted for age, ER status, and menopause

BMI Categories	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	P value
Normal	1.00	Reference	
Overweight	1.24	0.40 – 3.85	0.713
Obese	2.03	0.68 – 6.02	0.204

Table 6: Association between CLS and clinical and demographic characteristics

		CLS		Р
Characteristic		Absent	Present	Value
Age (years) (median [IQR])		53.0 [44.0, 61.0]	53.0 [48.0, 58.0]	0.313
	Pre	53 (39.8%)	13 (34.2%)	
Menopause Status	Peri	1 (0.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0.669
	Post	79 (59.4%)	25 (65.8%)	
Sunival Status	Alive	35 (97.2%)	11 (100.0%)	1 000
Survival Status	Died	1 (2.8%)	0 (0.0%)	1.000
	1	4 (3.0%)	2 (5.3%)	
Histological Grade	2	72 (53.3%)	17 (44.7%)	0.504
	3	59 (43.7%)	19 (50.0%)	
	2	4 (9.5%)	1 94.3%)	
	3	7 (16.7%)	6 (26.1%)	
	4	9 (21.4%)	2 (8.7%)	
Pictograph (n=65) ²	5	9 (21.4%)	5 (21.7%)	0.344
	6	8 (19.0%)	6 (26.1%)	
	7	5 (11.9%)	1 (4.3%)	
	8	0 (0.0%)	2 (8.7%)	
Waist Circumference (n=5	0)	38.0 [33.0, 59.0]	46.0 [40.0, 68.0]	0.056
Hip Circumference (n=46)		46.5 [42.0, 52.0]	48.5 [46.0, 68.5]	0.137
Waist Hip Ratio (n=46)		0.85 [0.77, 0.92]	0.84 [0.80, 0.91]	0.965
Tumour size (n=172)		4.0 [2.0, 4.0]	4.0 [2.0, 4.0]	0.865
	1	22 (16.7%)	7 (18.4%)	
(n-170)	2	82 (62.1%)	27 (71.1%)	0.456
Stage (N=170)	3	24 (18.2%)	3 (7.9%)	
	4	4 (3.0%)	1 (2.6%)	

 $^{^2}$ The numbers on the pictograph indicate different body sizes characterised by increasing body weight with 1 being the slimmest and 9 the heaviest (Appendix 2).

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Breast cancer (BC) is the most common malignancy worldwide including in Kenya where the incidence rate is estimated to be 16.1% (Harbeck et al., 2019). BC is a heterogeneous disease at the morphological and molecular level (Harbeck et al., 2019). The WHO lists up to 21 histological types, with invasive carcinoma of no special type being the most common worldwide (Michael Thun, 2017; Organisation, 2012). Most of the patients (82.2%) sampled in this study presented with invasive ductal carcinoma of no special type.

At the molecular level BC is classified into 4 intrinsic subtypes; luminal A, luminal B, HER-2 enriched, basal like subtypes (Perou et al., 2000). With an immunohistochemistry panel of ER, PR, HER2, Ki67, CK5/6, EGFR one can approximate the molecular subtypes of BC as determined by gene expression profiling (Schnitt, 2010). We found that 66.3% of the patients had Luminal A/B subtype similar to a study conducted by Sayed et al where 70.2% of patients(n=846) were Luminal A/B (Sayed et al., 2018).

Risk factors of BC include sex, age, estrogen, family history, gene mutations and obesity (Kashyap, Pal, Sharma, Koundal, & Belay, 2022; Sun, Zhao, Yang, Yao, & Zhu, 2017). The mean age and median age was 53 years. Of the patients sampled in the study, 39.4% were below 50 years, consistent with other studies which show that African patients present with BC earlier than other races (Abdulrahman & Rahman, 2012; Aziz et al., 1999; Lukong et al., 2017).

Obesity, a known risk factor for BC, is commonly measured as BMI (Harbeck et al., 2019; WHO, 2000). There has been an increase in obesity globally including Africa (Adeboye et al., 2012). Estimates from Kenya show that 20.5% and 9.1% of women aged 15-49 years are overweight and obese respectively (Mkuu et al., 2018). The link between BC and obesity is complex however certain hypothesis include the role of obesity related inflammation with formation of crown like structures are formed (Faria et al., 2020; Iyengar, Gucalp, et al., 2016).

Blair et al in an evaluation of 859 patients with BC showed that women who presented with tumors greater than 5 cm were more likely to have a BMI > 25kg/m2 (22.1%, n=859) compared to those with normal BMI (9%, n=859) (Blair et al., 2019). Obese women also had a 1.7-fold increased risk of stage 3 or 4 disease from the same study (Blair et al., 2019) A recent local study by Sayed et al showed that 68.7% of Kenyan BC patients(n=823) had a BMI > 25kg/m2 (Sayed et al., 2018). Our study showed similar results as 48.3% of the patients were obese and 36.1% were overweight.

18

The link between obesity and BC development and progression is not clear. One of the mechanisms is that higher BMI is associated with adipocyte hypertrophy, adipocyte necrosis with formation of CLS. The activated macrophages within the CLS phagocytose the fat and secrete cytokines that maintain the inflammatory state. They also produce reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species which are mutagenic (Berger, 2017; Hotamisligil, 2017). There is also increased expression of the NFkB (Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells) pathway which promotes synthesis of various cytokines(Zhu et al., 2020). Aromatase expression and activity is also increased within the adipose tissue resulting to elevated estrogen (Morris et al., 2011). All these contribute to the development and progression of BC (Faria et al., 2020; Iyengar, Gucalp, et al., 2016).

CLS was detected in surrounding non-tumour breast adipose tissue in 21.67% of cases. In multivariable logistic regression models, obese patients were approximately two-fold more likely to have CLS in their tissues than normal weight patients (Odds ratio (95% CI) = 2.03 (0.68-6.02)) but differences were not statistically significant (p = 0.204). This is consistent with previous studies which show a higher CLS prevalence in surrounding non-tumour breast adipose tissue of obese than normal weight women.

Observed differences were, however, not statistically significant, which could be due to the low prevalence of CLS in this population, the relatively small sample size, or due to inherent tumour characteristics within this population.

We also proffer that due to its low prevalence within this population, CLS may not be the ideal marker of white adipose tissue inflammation. Further studies looking in to macrophage density within surrounding breast tissue and the different types of macrophages are warranted.

CLS evaluation can be performed via various methods. We used CD68 immunohistochemistry consistent with other studies (Greenlee et al., 2019; Maliniak et al., 2020). However, Koru-Sengul et al used three different macrophage markers (CD163, CD206, CD40) and correlation was done with CD40 which highlights specifically M1- pro-inflammatory macrophages. This could explain for some of the discrepancies within our study. Moreover, tumour biology may have an effect as well given that there is a complex relationship between tumour and surrounding breast stroma (Hotamisligil, 2017).

Waist circumference (WC) measures central adiposity which is an important factor in obesityrelated health risk(Ross et al., 2020). A larger WC is associated with a higher risk of both pre and post-menopausal BC (Gaudet et al., 2014; Houghton et al., 2021). From our study, waist circumference showed a closer association with CLS (p=0.056) though the data was insufficient to draw statistically significant conclusions.

CLS detection rate was slightly lower than other studies (Greenlee et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2020). This could have resulted from the use of one tissue block per case. Green lee et al (Greenlee et al., 2019) and Zhao et al (Zhao et al., 2020) both analysed multiple levels of the slides each approximately 50 micrometers apart. This could also account for our low detection rate as we only evaluated for CLS at one level. Future studies could use more surrounding breast tissue to increase the rate of detection.

However, consistent with other studies we found that most BC patients had higher BMI with 48.3% being obese (Neuhouser, Aragaki, et al., 2015; Reeves et al., 2007; White et al., 2015). This confirms the existence of a link between obesity and BC. The exact mechanisms for this may not be clear. It could be attributed to a complex interplay between breast adipose tissue, circulating adipokines and other systemic factors (Calle & Kaaks, 2004).

CLS were also present in normal weight patients. Iyengar et al and Zhao et al found CLS within 39% (n=72) and 31.9% (n=136) of women with normal BMI respectively (Iyengar et al., 2017).CLS within normal women could be attributed to a possible occurrence of a subclinical inflammatory state in the surrounding breast tissue or a systemic metabolic obese state in patients with normal BMI (Iyengar et al., 2017).

Iyengar et al (Iyengar et al., 2015) in an evaluation of 237 patients showed that the presence of CLS-B was positively associated with menopausal status (P=0.008) and BMI (P<0.001). We also found that patients with CLS were more likely to be postmenopausal than pre-menopausal (64% vs 36%). However, this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.92).

We also did not find any statistically significant association between CLS presence and density with BC risk factors specifically, age, menopausal status, subtypes of BC and overall survival among BC patients. Data on association between CLS and other clinical factors are infrequent. CLS are also seen in older patients compared to younger patients(Greenlee et al., 2019; Iyengar et al., 2015). We found that most patients (76.92%) with CLS were between 41-60 years. Age was however not statistically significantly associated with presence of CLS in this study (p=0.313).

20

CLS have been associated with reduced survival and shortened distant recurrence free survival in those who develop metastases in BC (Iyengar, Zhou, et al., 2016). We did not find a significant association between CLS presence with survival (p=1.00, n=47). Of note, we had scarce survival data for most of the patients.

This study has various benefits. To the best of our knowledge it is the only study in Kenya that has tried to understand the link between CLS, BMI and BC. It points to a possible association between increasing BMI and risk of BC. It serves as a stepping stone for additional studies to be done within this field to enhance knowledge of the relationship between BMI and BC with a special focus on tumour microenvironment.

4.1 Limitations

We encountered certain limitations while conducting the study. Firstly, our study is limited by its retrospective design of evaluation of white adipose tissue inflammation and BMI in BC. Secondly, we did not analyse CLS presence and density within a non-BC population. Therefore, a direct causation between white adipose tissue inflammation and BC causation cannot be made. Thirdly, we had a relatively small sample size which might have contributed to the nature of our findings. Furthermore, analysis was done on only one tissue block and on one microscopic level per case and this could have led to a low detection rate. We also had missing data for some of the variables hence it was difficult to efficiently determine the relationship with CLS presence. Other studies have used CD68 (Greenlee et al., 2019; Maliniak et al., 2020)to highlight macrophages forming CLS but it does not distinguish between the anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory macrophage types which could have different associations with risk factors.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION

The findings were suggestive of higher CLS prevalence in surrounding non-tumour breast adipose tissue of obese than normal weight women with BC. Observed differences were, however, not statistically significant, which could be due to the low prevalence of CLS in this population, the relatively small sample size, or due to inherent tumour characteristics within this population. Due to its low prevalence, CLS may also not be the most ideal marker for white adipose tissue inflammation and further studies looking into macrophage density and different types of macrophages within surrounding breast tissue are recommended.

CHAPTER 6: RECOMMENDATIONS

Future studies could aim to use more than one tissue block and/or multiple microscopic levels could improve CLS detection. Prospectively designed studies with a larger sample size including a non-BC control population could be done to enhance understanding of the link between CLS, BC and BMI. Evaluation of CLS presence, macrophage density and the different types of macrophages within surrounding non-tumour breast tissue within BC patients should be carried out to better understand this tumour microenvironment. Further studies involving normal weight patients with inclusion of lipid profile, blood glucose, leptin, and breast aromatase levels and anti-inflammatory markers could help understand the link between BC and CLS in normal weight women.

REFERENCES

Abdulrahman, G. O., Jr., & Rahman, G. A. (2012). Epidemiology of breast cancer in europe and Africa. *J Cancer Epidemiol, 2012*, 915610. doi:10.1155/2012/915610

Adeboye, B., Bermano, G., & Rolland, C. (2012). Obesity and its health impact in Africa: a systematic review. *Cardiovasc J Afr, 23*(9), 512-521. doi:10.5830/CVJA-2012-040

Aziz, H., Hussain, F., Sohn, C., Mediavillo, R., Saitta, A., & Hussain, A. (1999). Early onset of breast carcinoma in African American women with poor prognostic factors. *Am J Clin Oncol, 22*(5), 436-440. doi:10.1097/00000421-199910000-00002

Berger, N. A. (2017). Crown-like Structures in Breast Adipose Tissue from Normal Weight Women: Important Impact. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila), 10*(4), 223-225. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-17-0062

Bhardwaj, P., Au, C. C., Benito-Martin, A., Ladumor, H., Oshchepkova, S., Moges, R., & Brown, K. A. (2019). Estrogens and breast cancer: Mechanisms involved in obesity-related development, growth and progression. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 189*, 161-170. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2019.03.002

Blair, C. K., Wiggins, C. L., Nibbe, A. M., Storlie, C. B., & Prossnitz, E. R. (2019). Obesity and survival among a cohort of breast cancer patients is partially mediated by tumor characteristics. *NPJ Breast Cancer, 5*, 33. doi:10.1038/s41523-019-0128-4

Calle, E. E., & Kaaks, R. (2004). Overweight, obesity and cancer: epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms. *Nat Rev Cancer, 4*(8), 579-591. doi:10.1038/nrc1408

Camhi, S. M., Bray, G. A., Bouchard, C., Greenway, F. L., Johnson, W. D., Smith, S. R., & Katzmarzyk, P. T. (2011). The relationship of waist circumference and BMI to visceral, subcutaneous, and total body fat: sex and race differences. *Obesity (Silver Spring), 19*(2), 402-408. doi:10.1038/oby.2010.248

Carroll, J. F., Chiapa, A. L., Rodriquez, M., Phelps, D. R., Cardarelli, K. M., & Cardarelli, R. (2008). Visceral fat, waist circumference, and BMI: impact of race/ethnicity. *Obesity (Silver Spring), 16*(3), 600-607. doi:10.1038/oby.2007.92

Cinti, S. (2018). Adipose Organ Development and Remodeling. *Compr Physiol, 8*(4), 1357-1431. doi:10.1002/cphy.c170042

Cinti, S., Mitchell, G., Barbatelli, G., Murano, I., Ceresi, E., Faloia, Obin, M. S. (2005). Adipocyte death defines macrophage localization and function in adipose tissue of obese mice and humans. *J Lipid Res, 46*(11), 2347-2355. doi:10.1194/jlr.M500294-JLR200

College of American Pathologists, C. *Template for Reporting Results of Biomarker Testing of Specimens From Patients With Carcinoma of the Breast*. Retrieved from https://documents.cap.org/protocols/cp-breast-biomarker-20-1400.pdf

Correa, L. H., Heyn, G. S., & Magalhaes, K. G. (2019). The Impact of the Adipose Organ Plasticity on Inflammation and Cancer Progression. *Cells, 8*(7). doi:10.3390/cells8070662

Faria, S. S., Correa, L. H., Heyn, G. S., de Sant'Ana, L. P., Almeida, R. D. N., & Magalhaes, K. G. (2020). Obesity and Breast Cancer: The Role of Crown-Like Structures in Breast Adipose Tissue in Tumor Progression, Prognosis, and Therapy. *J Breast Cancer, 23*(3), 233-245. doi:10.4048/jbc.2020.23.e35

Frontini, A., & Cinti, S. (2010). Distribution and development of brown adipocytes in the murine and human adipose organ. *Cell Metab, 11*(4), 253-256. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2010.03.004

Garrow, J. S. (1988). Obesity and Related Diseases.

Gaudet, M. M., Carter, B. D., Patel, A. V., Teras, L. R., Jacobs, E. J., & Gapstur, S. M. (2014). Waist circumference, body mass index, and postmenopausal breast cancer incidence in the Cancer Prevention Study-II Nutrition Cohort. *Cancer Causes Control, 25*(6), 737-745. doi:10.1007/s10552-014-0376-4

Greenlee, H., Shi, Z., Hibshoosh, H., Giri, D. D., Ahmed, A., Williams, Iyengar, N. M. (2019). Obesity-associated Breast Inflammation among Hispanic/Latina Breast Cancer Patients. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila), 12*(1), 21-30. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-18-0207

Gucalp, A., Iyengar, N. M., Zhou, X. K., Giri, D. D., Williams, S., Scardino, Dannenberg, A. J. (2017). Periprostatic adipose inflammation is associated with high-grade prostate cancer. *Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis, 20*(4), 418-423. doi:10.1038/pcan.2017.31

Harbeck, N., Penault-Llorca, F., Cortes, J., Gnant, M., Tsang, J., & Cardoso, F. (2019). Breast cancer. *Nat Rev Dis Primers, 5*(1), 66. doi:10.1038/s41572-019-0111-2

Heymsfield, S. B., Peterson, C. M., Thomas, D. M., Heo, M., & Schuna, J. M., Jr. (2016). Why are there race/ethnic differences in adult body mass index-adiposity relationships? A quantitative critical review. *Obes Rev,* 17(3), 262-275. doi:10.1111/obr.12358

Hotamisligil, G. S. (2017). Inflammation, metaflammation and immunometabolic disorders. *Nature*, *542*(7640), 177-185. doi:10.1038/nature21363

Houghton, S. C., Eliassen, H., Tamimi, R. M., Willett, W. C., Rosner, B. A., & Hankinson, S. E. (2021). Central Adiposity and Subsequent Risk of Breast Cancer by Menopause Status. *J Natl Cancer Inst, 113*(7), 900-908. doi:10.1093/jnci/djaa197

Iyengar, N. M., Brown, K. A., Zhou, X. K., Gucalp, A., Morrow, M., Hudis, C. A., & Dannenberg, A. J. (2017). Metabolic Obesity, Adipose Inflammation and Elevated Breast Aromatase in Women with Normal Body Mass Index. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila), 10*(4), 235-243. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-16-0314

Iyengar, N. M., Chen, I. C., Zhou, X. K., Giri, D. D., Hudis, C. A., Lin, C. H., & Dannenberg, A. J. (2018). Adiposity, Inflammation, and Breast Cancer Pathogenesis in Asian Women. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila), 11*(4), 227-236. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-17-0283

Iyengar, N. M., Ghossein, R. A., Morris, L. G., Zhou, X. K., Hudis, C. A., & Dannenberg, A. J. (2016). White adipose tissue inflammation and cancer-specific survival in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the oral tongue. *Cancer, 122*(24), 3794-3802. doi:10.1002/cncr.30251

Iyengar, N. M., Gucalp, A., Dannenberg, A. J., & Hudis, C. A. (2016). Obesity and Cancer Mechanisms: Tumor Microenvironment and Inflammation. *J Clin Oncol, 34*(35), 4270-4276. doi:10.1200/JCO.2016.67.4283

Iyengar, N. M., Morris, P. G., Zhou, X. K., Gucalp, A., Giri, D., Hudis, C. A., & Dannenberg, A. J. (2015). Menopause is a determinant of breast adipose inflammation. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila), 8*(5), 349-358. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-14-0243

26

Iyengar, N. M., Zhou, X. K., Gucalp, A., Morris, P. G., Howe, L. R., Giri, Dannenberg, A. J. (2016). Systemic Correlates of White Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Early-Stage Breast Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res, 22*(9), 2283-2289. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2239

JS, G. (1988). Obesity And Related Diseases. London: Churchill livingstone.

Kashyap, D., Pal, D., Sharma, R., Koundal, S., & Belay, A. (2022). Global Increase in Breast Cancer Incidence: Risk Factors and Preventive Measures. *Biomed Res Int, 2022*, 9605439. doi:10.1155/2022/9605439

Koru-Sengul, T., Santander, A. M., Miao, F., Sanchez, L. G., Jorda, M., Gluck, Torroella-Kouri, M. (2016). Breast cancers from black women exhibit higher numbers of immunosuppressive macrophages with proliferative activity and of crown-like structures associated with lower survival compared to non-black Latinas and Caucasians. *Breast Cancer Res Treat, 158*(1), 113-126. doi:10.1007/s10549-016-3847-3

Lei, S., Zheng, R., Zhang, S., Zhou, J., & Wei, W. (2021). Global patterns of breast cancer incidence and mortality: A population-based cancer registry data analysis from 2000 to 2020. *Cancer Commun (Lond), 41*(11), 1183-1194. doi:10.1002/cac2.12207

Lukong, K. E., Ogunbolude, Y., & Kamdem, J. P. (2017). Breast cancer in Africa: prevalence, treatment options, herbal medicines, and socioeconomic determinants. *Breast Cancer Res Treat, 166*(2), 351-365. doi:10.1007/s10549-017-4408-0

Maliniak, M. L., Cheriyan, A. M., Sherman, M. E., Liu, Y., Gogineni, K., Liu, McCullough, L. E. (2020). Detection of crown-like structures in breast adipose tissue and clinical outcomes among African-American and White women with breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res, 22*(1), 65. doi:10.1186/s13058-020-01308-4

Michael Thun, M. S. L., James R. Cerhan, Christopher A. Haiman, David Schottenfeld. (2017). *Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention*: Oxford University Press.

Mkuu, R. S., Epnere, K., & Chowdhury, M. A. B. (2018). Prevalence and Predictors of Overweight and Obesity Among Kenyan Women. *Prev Chronic Dis, 15*, E44. doi:10.5888/pcd15.170401 Morris, P. G., Hudis, C. A., Giri, D., Morrow, M., Falcone, D. J., Zhou, Dannenberg, A. J. (2011). Inflammation and increased aromatase expression occur in the breast tissue of obese women with breast cancer. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila), 4*(7), 1021-1029. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-11-0110

Moukarzel, L. A., Ferrando, L., Stylianou, A., Lobaugh, S., Weigelt, B., & Makker, V. (2022). Impact of obesity and white adipose tissue inflammation on the omental microenvironment in endometrial cancer. *Cancer, 128*(18), 3297-3309. doi:10.1002/cncr.34356

Neuhouser, M. L., Aragaki, A. K., Prentice, R. L., Urrutia, R. P., Knudtson, J., & Anderson, G. L. (2015). Overweight, Obesity, and Postmenopausal Invasive Breast Cancer Risk: A Secondary Analysis of the Women's Health Initiative Randomized Clinical Trials. *JAMA Oncol, 1*(5), 611-621. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.1546

Neuhouser, M. L., Chlebowski, R. T., & Anderson, G. L. (2015). Association Between Obesity and Postmenopausal Breast Cancer Risk-Reply. *JAMA Oncol, 1*(8), 1171. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.3313

Observatory, GLOBOCAN. (2020). Breast cancer. Retrieved from https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/populations/404-kenya-fact-sheets.pdf

Organisation, W. H. (2012). *WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast Fourth Edition* (4th Edition ed.): WHO.

Organisation, W. H. (2021). *Obesity And Overweight Fact Sheets*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight</u>.

Perou, C. M., Sorlie, T., Eisen, M. B., van de Rijn, M., Jeffrey, S. S., Rees, Botstein, D. (2000). Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature, 406*(6797), 747-752. doi:10.1038/35021093

Rahma Mkuu, A. B., Gerald Yonga, Fredrick Nafukho, Cort Wernz, Tamika Gilreath, Muhammad A.B. Chowdhury, Idethia Shevon Harvey. (2021). Prevalence and factors associated with overweight and obesity in kenyan adult. *Preventive Medicine Report, 101340*.

Reeves, G. K., Pirie, K., Beral, V., Green, J., Spencer, E., Bull, D., & Million Women Study, C. (2007). Cancer incidence and mortality in relation to body mass index in the Million Women Study: cohort study. *BMJ*, *335*(7630), 1134. doi:10.1136/bmj.39367.495995.AE

Ross, R., Neeland, I. J., Yamashita, S., Shai, I., Matsuzawa, Y., & Despres, J. P. (2020). Waist circumference as a vital sign in clinical practice: a Consensus Statement from the IAS and ICCR Working Group on Visceral Obesity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol, 16*(3), 177-189. doi:10.1038/s41574-019-0310-7

Sayed, S., Moloo, Z., Wasike, R., Bird, P., Oigara, R., Njoroge, Saleh, M. (2018). Ethnicity and breast cancer characteristics in Kenya. *Breast Cancer Res Treat, 167*(2), 425-437. doi:10.1007/s10549-017-4511-2

Schnitt, S. J. (2010). Classification and prognosis of invasive breast cancer: from morphology to molecular taxonomy. *Mod Pathol, 23 Suppl 2*, S60-64. doi:10.1038/modpathol.2010.33

Sun, Y. S., Zhao, Z., Yang, Z. N., Yao, P. P., & Zhu, H. P. (2017). Risk Factors and Preventions of Breast Cancer. *Int J Biol Sci, 13*(11), 1387-1397. doi:10.7150/ijbs.21635

Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J Clin, 71*(3), 209-249. doi:10.3322/caac.21660

Vaysse, C., Lomo, J., Garred, O., Fjeldheim, F., Lofteroed, T., Schlichting, Thune, I. (2017). Inflammation of mammary adipose tissue occurs in overweight and obese patients exhibiting early-stage breast cancer. *NPJ Breast Cancer*, *3*, 19. doi:10.1038/s41523-017-0015-9

White, A. J., Nichols, H. B., Bradshaw, P. T., & Sandler, D. P. (2015). Overall and central adiposity and breast cancer risk in the Sister Study. *Cancer, 121*(20), 3700-3708. doi:10.1002/cncr.29552

WHO, W. H. O. (2000). *Obesity : preventing and managing the global epidemic : report of a WHO consultation*. Retrieved from <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42330?show=full</u>

Zhao, Y. X., Sun, Y. L., Ye, J. H., Zhang, W. J., & Yao, Y. Z. (2020). The Relationship Between White Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Overweight/Obesity in Chinese Female Breast Cancer: A Retrospective Study. *Adv Ther, 37*(6), 2734-2747. doi:10.1007/s12325-020-01368-0 Zhu, Z., Zhu, X., Yang, S., Guo, Z., Li, K., Ren, Dou, J. (2020). Yin-yang effect of tumour cells in breast cancer: from mechanism of crosstalk between tumour-associated macrophages and cancer-associated adipocytes. *Am J Cancer Res, 10*(2), 383-392.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: DATA COLLECTION SHEET

CHARACTERISTIC		CLS present	CLS absent	CLS low	CLS high
AGE in years	20-39				
	40-49				
	50-59				
	60-79				
BMI					
Underweight					
Normal					
Overweight					
Obese					
Histologic type					
IDC					
ILC					
Other					
Molecular subtype					
Luminal					
Basal like					
HER2-enriched					
Menopause					
Premenopausal					
Postmenopausal					
Histological grade					
Grade 1					
Grade 2					
Grade3					

APPENDIX 2: PICTOGRAPH CHART



³ The pictograph chart shows different body sizes characterised by increasing body weight ranging from 1 to 9; 1 being the slimmest and 9 the heaviest.